

# Scottish Statutory Instrument 2005 No. 132

## **The Ullapool Harbour Revision (Constitution) Order 2005**

---

© Crown Copyright 2005

Scottish Statutory Instruments printed from this website are printed under the superintendence and authority of the Controller of HMSO being the Queen's Printer of Acts of Parliament.

The legislation contained on this web site is subject to Crown Copyright protection. It may be reproduced free of charge provided that it is reproduced accurately and that the source and copyright status of the material is made evident to users.

It should be noted that the right to reproduce the text of Scottish Statutory Instruments does not extend to the Queen's Printer for Scotland imprints which should be removed from any copies of the Scottish Statutory Instrument which are issued or made available to the public. This includes reproduction of the Scottish Statutory Instrument on the Internet and on intranet sites. The Royal Arms may be reproduced only where they are an integral part of the original document.

The text of this Internet version of the Scottish Statutory Instrument has been prepared to reflect the text as it was Made. A print version is also available and is published by The Stationery Office Limited as the **The Ullapool Harbour Revision (Constitution) Order 2005**, ISBN 0110694805. The print version may be purchased by clicking [here](#). Braille copies of this Scottish Statutory Instrument can also be purchased at the same price as the print edition by contacting TSO Customer Services on 0870 600 5522 or e-mail: [customer.services@tso.co.uk](mailto:customer.services@tso.co.uk).

Further information about the publication of legislation on this website can be found by referring to the [Frequently Asked Questions](#).

To ensure fast access over slow connections, large documents have been segmented into "chunks". Where you

see a "continue" button at the bottom of the page of text,  
this indicates that there is another chunk of text available.

---

SCOTTISH STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

---

**2005 No. 132**

**HARBOURS, DOCKS, PIERS AND FERRIES**

The Ullapool Harbour Revision (Constitution) Order  
2005

*Made*

*1st March*

*Coming into force*

*2nd March*

**ARRANGEMENT OF ARTICLES**

- [1. Citation and commencement](#)
- [2. Interpretation](#)
- [3. Constitution of Trustees](#)
- [4. Application procedure](#)
- [5. Interviews and selection](#)
- [6. Election procedure](#)
- [7. Casual vacancies](#)
- [8. Termination of office](#)
- [9. Declaration of interests](#)
- [10. Incidental provisions relating to Trustees](#)
- [11. Transitional provisions](#)
- [12. Statement of accounts](#)
- [13. Indemnity insurance](#)
- [14. Annual increase in borrowing limit](#)
- [15. Repeals](#)

**SCHEDULES**

- [Schedule 1](#)    [Declaration of interests](#)
- [Schedule 2](#)    [Incidental provisions relating to Trustees](#)
- [Schedule 3](#)    [Repeals](#)

Whereas the Ullapool Harbour Trustees have applied for a harbour revision order under section 14 of the Harbours Act 1964[1];

And whereas the making of this Order is not opposed;

Now, therefore, the Scottish Ministers[2] in exercise of the powers conferred by the said section 14 and of all other powers enabling them in that behalf, hereby make the following Order: -

### **Citation and commencement**

1. - (1) This Order may be cited as the Ullapool Harbour Revision (Constitution) Order 2005 and shall come into force on the day after it is made.

(2) The Ullapool Pier and Harbour Orders 1911 to 1986 and this Order may be cited together as the Ullapool Pier and Harbour Orders 1911 to 2005.

### **Interpretation**

2. In this Order -

"1911 Act" means the Pier and Harbour Order Confirmation (No. 4) Act 1911 (c. clxxxvi);

"application date" means the deadline set by the appointing body under article 4(3);

"appointing body" has the meaning given to it by article 5(1);

"Convenor" means the Convenor of Trustees elected according to paragraph 1 of Schedule 2;

"Elective Trustees" are the Trustees elected under article 4(2)(c) of the Ullapool Harbour Order Confirmation Act 1984 (c. iii);

"elector" means a person on the electoral register and entitled to vote at any election of members of the Lochbroom Community Council as a resident in the electoral area;

"the electoral area" means so much of the area of the Lochbroom Community Council as constituted at the commencement of this Order as -

(i) in Ward A lies south of the river Kanaird extended by an imaginary straight line drawn due east from the waterfalls at National Grid reference NC 211 028 to the boundary of the said area;

(ii) in Ward B lies north of an imaginary line drawn straight from Cailleach Head to Loch and Fhiona at National Grid reference

NH 164 850 and thence straight due east to the boundary of the said area;

"new constitution date" means the first day of December 2006;

"returning officer" means the officer appointed by the Trustees to act as such under article 4(2);

"Trustees" means the Trustees of Ullapool Harbour acting under the Ullapool Pier and Harbour Orders 1911 to 1986 or this Order as appropriate, and

"Trustee" shall be construed accordingly; and

"Ullapool Harbour" means the harbour of Ullapool in the parish of Lochbroom under the management and control of the Trustees.

### **Constitution of Trustees**

**3.** - (1) On and after the new constitution date the Trustees shall consist of -

(a) four persons elected in 2005 and every third year thereafter;

(b) three persons appointed in 2006 and every third year thereafter; and

(c) the harbour master, by virtue of that office.

(2) The term of office of Trustees other than the harbour master shall commence on 1st December in the year of election or appointment and shall be for three years.

### **Application procedure**

**4.** - (1) This article and articles 5 and 6 shall govern the procedure for Trustees to be elected according to article 3(1)(a) and appointed according to article 3(1)(b).

(2) In a year in which elections or appointments under article 3 are to take place, the Trustees shall appoint a returning officer, who may not seek election or appointment that year.

(3) The deadline for the receipt of applications shall be 30th September, which the returning officer shall cause to be advertised in at least one newspaper published or circulating in Ullapool not less than fourteen days beforehand.

(4) All persons seeking election or appointment as Trustees shall lodge an application form with the returning officer by the application date.

(5) The application form shall contain the following information -

- (a) the name, address and date of birth of the applicant;
- (b) a completed form of declaration of any pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests as set out in Schedule 1; and
- (c) such other information as the Trustees may require.

### **Interviews and selection**

**5.** - (1) There shall be an appointing body consisting of the following three persons none of whom shall have made an application under article 4 -

- (a) the Convenor, unless the Convenor has made an application under article 4, in which case another Trustee nominated by the Trustees;
- (b) a person who is not a Trustee who is nominated by the Trustees and considered by them to be representative of persons with an interest in Ullapool Harbour; and
- (c) a person with no connection with Ullapool Harbour nominated by the Trustees in line with guidance in relation to such appointments issued or endorsed by Scottish Ministers.

(2) The appointing body shall meet as soon as practicable after the application date to consider the applications made under article 4.

(3) The appointing body shall interview applicants as it sees fit.

(4) The appointing body shall decide -

- (a) in a year in which Trustees are to be elected according to article 3(1)(a), which persons who have applied under article 4 shall be candidates in an election; and
- (b) in a year in which Trustees are to be appointed according to article 3(1)(b), which persons who have applied under article 4 shall be appointed as

Trustees.

(5) The appointing body shall have regard to the following considerations when making decisions under paragraph (4) -

(a) the special knowledge, experience or ability of applicants to contribute to the efficient and economic discharge by the Trustees of their functions;

(b) the special knowledge and experience of applicants of Ullapool Harbour and the practicalities of attendance at meetings and participation in the running of the harbour;

(c) the special knowledge, experience or ability of applicants in one or more of the following matters -

(i) management of harbours;

(ii) shipping or other forms of transport;

(iii) the fishing industry;

(iv) sailing and other water-related leisure activities;

(v) navigation;

(vi) industrial, commercial or financial matters;

(vii) administration;

(viii) the law relating to Scotland;

(ix) safety;

(x) personnel management;

(xi) environmental matters affecting harbours;

(xii) any other skills and matters considered relevant from time to time by the Trustees to the discharge by them of their functions;

(d) any guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers

from time to time with respect to the exercise of such functions; and

(e) where not inconsistent with this Order, any guidance issued by the Commissioner for Public Appointments in Scotland.

(6) The appointing body shall not appoint as Trustee or select as a candidate for election a person who has served two previous terms of office after the new constitution date unless the appointing body considers that there are exceptional circumstances to justify a further term, and in no event should such a person be selected or appointed for a fourth term.

### **Election procedure**

**6.** - (1) If, in a year in which Trustees are to be elected according to article 3(1)(a), four or fewer candidates are chosen by the appointing body, then those persons shall be deemed elected as Trustees.

(2) If in such a year more than four candidates are chosen by the appointing body, then the returning officer shall arrange for a poll to be taken and each of the electors shall be entitled to four votes for offices of Trustee but in no case shall an elector be entitled to give more than one vote to any one candidate.

(3) The poll shall be taken in such manner, whether by postal vote or by ballot in a meeting convened by the returning officer by public notice for that purpose, as the Trustees may by resolution from time to time determine.

(4) The four candidates receiving the highest number of votes shall be deemed elected as Trustees, and in the case of an equality of votes, the choice shall be made by the drawing of lots by the returning officer.

### **Casual vacancies**

**7.** If a Trustee refuses to accept office, or dies or resigns, or ceases to be qualified or becomes incapable of acting, or if the appointing body selects fewer applicants to become Trustees than there are vacancies, the resulting vacancy or vacancies may be filled in the following manner -

(a) the Trustees may fill each vacancy by co-opting as a Trustee any person duly qualified in accordance with the provisions of this Order, and the Trustee so substituted shall continue in office

for the period that the person in whose place the co-opted Trustee is appointed (or would have been appointed) would, in the ordinary course, have continued in office; and

(b) at the end of such period the co-opted Trustee shall go out of office but shall be eligible for re-appointment if qualified.

#### **Termination of office**

**8.** - (1) If the Trustees are satisfied that a Trustee -

(a) has, without the permission of the Trustees, been absent from three consecutive meetings;

(b) has become bankrupt or has made an arrangement with the creditors of the Trustee; or

(c) is incapacitated by physical or mental illness from discharging the functions of a Trustee;

the Trustees may declare the office of such a person vacant and thereupon the office shall become vacant.

(2) Any Trustee may resign office at any time upon giving the Trustees not less than three weeks written notice of such intention.

#### **Declaration of interests**

**9.** - (1) Subject to paragraph (2), if a Trustee has a personal, financial or other significant involvement in any matter that is to be debated by the Trustees, then that Trustee shall declare the interest and offer to withdraw from the debate and any subsequent vote on the matter, to be voted on by the other Trustees.

(2) The following shall not constitute a personal, financial or other significant involvement for the purposes of paragraph (1) -

(a) the payment of harbour dues,

(b) interests as a shareholder owning less than five percent of the share capital, or as a director, of a public utility undertaking, and

(c) interests that affect the harbour in general.

#### **Incidental provisions relating to Trustees**

**10.** From 1st December 2005, the provisions of

Schedule 2 to this Order shall have effect with respect to the Trustees.

**Transitional provisions**

**11.** - (1) On the date of coming into force of this order, the existing Trustees shall continue in office as Trustees.

(2) All powers and duties of the Trustees prior to the date of coming into force of this order shall continue to vest in the Trustees after the date of coming into force of this order.

(3) At the first meeting of the Trustees after the coming into force of this Order, they shall decide which four Elective Trustees shall retire on 1st December 2005.

(4) On 1st December 2005 -

(a) the factor or agent of the estate of Ullapool shall cease to be a Trustee;

(b) the Trustee appointed by the Scottish Fishermen's Federation shall cease to be a Trustee;

(c) the four Elective Trustees selected under paragraph (3) shall cease to be Trustees; and

(d) the harbour master shall become a Trustee.

(5) The remaining three Elective Trustees shall retire on 1st December 2006.

(6) Retiring Elective Trustees shall be free to apply for appointments and elections under this Order, and terms of office held before the new constitution date shall be taken into account for the purposes of calculating the maximum number of terms of office under article 5(6).

**Statement of accounts**

**12.** As soon as reasonably practicable after their annual statement of accounts is prepared, the Trustees shall -

(a) make a copy of it available, for a period of three months from the date of the preparation, at the offices of the Trustees for inspection free of charge by members of the public and shall, subject to the payment of a reasonable charge, supply a copy of the statement to any person who requests to be supplied with a copy; and

(b) send a copy of the statement to the Scottish Ministers.

**Indemnity insurance**

13. The Trustees may enter into, and pay premiums for, a contract of insurance to indemnify them jointly and severally against personal liability arising from any act or omission of the Trustees either collectively or individually; not being an act or omission which the Trustee or Trustees in question knew to be a breach of duty or, concerning which, the Trustees or Trustees was or were reckless as to whether it was such a breach.

**Annual increase in borrowing limit**

14. - (1) On 1st December each year the Trustees shall adjust their borrowing limit in line with any movement (calculated to one decimal place) in RPI which occurred during the year ended on 31st October immediately preceding the anniversary in question.

(2) Any adjustment made under paragraph (1) above shall be recorded in the next annual statement of accounts prepared by the Trustees.

(3) In paragraph (1) above, "RPI" means the general index of retail prices for all items published in the monthly publication of the Office for National Statistics known as the "Monthly Digest of Statistics", or any successor from time to time of that index.

**Repeals**

15. On the date of coming into force of this Order the enactments mentioned in the first and second columns of Schedule 3 to this Order (which include spent enactments) shall be repealed to the extent specified in the third column of that Schedule.

*D M HART*

Authorised to sign by the Scottish Ministers

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh  
1st March 2005

SCHEDULES

SCHEDULE 1

Article 4

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

**Personal Details**

Name

Date of Birth

Private address

Business address

Telephone

Have you changed your name? If so give details

**Other Relevant Information**

Any Trustee could find that matters or incidents which previously attracted no attention could become matters of public interest once the person concerned holds public office.

If the answer to any of the following questions is "yes" please provide details on a separate sheet.

Have you

- ever been convicted of any criminal offence (other than minor motoring) which is not spent in accordance with the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974?
- any criminal charges outstanding?
- become bankrupt in the past ten years?
- been dismissed from any office or employment in the past ten years?
- ever been disqualified from either acting as a company director or in the management of a company?
- ever been a director, partner or manager of a company which has gone into liquidation, receivership or administration?

Are there any other relevant facts to declare which might be raised in public in future in relation to your suitability to hold the appointment for which you are being considered,

for example because they could be presented as a conflict of interest?

### **Other Business Interests**

Current employment details.

Please state whether there are any companies, partnerships, or other organisations:

- in which you, members of your close family or your associates have shares or securities with a nominal value of more than 1/100th of the total issued share capital;
- of which you are or have been a director or partner in the last 10 years;
- of which you own more than 50% whether or not you are a director or partner.

If the answer to any of these questions is yes, please give details on a separate sheet.

### **Other Appointments**

Have you any other current public appointments paid or unpaid? Please give details.

### **Other Interests**

Are you a member of any political party, club or closed society (such as the Freemasons)? Please give details.

Do any of your close family or associates have pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests which relate closely, or could be construed as relating closely, to the activities of the Ullapool Harbour Trustees? If yes please provide details on a separate sheet.

### **Declaration**

You are required to notify the Ullapool Harbour Trustees of any other information that you consider relevant to an assessment of your suitability as a trustee. For example you must declare any associations, convictions, bankruptcies or other appointments which might lead to allegations of a conflict of interest and to report any significant change in the future to the information provided here.

I certify that the information given above is complete and correct to the best of my knowledge.

I also certify that, if appointed to the Ullapool Harbour Trustees I will inform the Convenor immediately of any change of circumstances which would result in a "yes" answer being given to any of the above questions if they were put to me.

Signed

Name

Date

## SCHEDULE 2

Article 10

### INCIDENTAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO TRUSTEES

#### *Appointment of Convenor and Vice-Convenor of Trustees*

**1.** There shall be a Convenor and Vice-Convenor of the Trustees who shall be elected by the Trustees from among their number at their first meeting after the date of coming into force of this Schedule and thereafter at the first meeting after the end of the term of office of the previous Convenor, except that the harbour master shall not be eligible to be Convenor.

**2.** The term of office of the Convenor shall be the term of office of the Convenor as a Trustee.

**3.** At all meetings the Convenor, and in the absence of the Convenor, the Vice-Convenor, shall preside.

**4.** In the event of neither the Convenor nor Vice-Convenor being present, or both posts being vacant, a Trustee shall be chosen by the Trustees present at the meeting to preside at that meeting.

**5.** If the Trustees are satisfied that either or both of the Convenor or Vice-Convenor should cease to hold office as such, they may terminate that office as such and appoint another Trustee to be Convenor or Vice-Convenor or both, as the case may be.

**6.** On a casual vacancy occurring in the office of Convenor or Vice-Convenor of the Trustees, the vacancy shall be filled by the Trustees at a meeting held as soon as practicable after the vacancy occurs.

*Meetings of the Trustees*

**7.** The Trustees shall hold a meeting once every six weeks, or more or less often as the Trustees shall think fit, on such day, at such hour and at such place in Ullapool, or such alternative location, as they shall from time to time appoint.

**8.** At all meetings of the Trustees, three shall be a quorum and no business shall be transacted at any meeting of the Trustees unless a quorum shall be present at such meeting and every meeting of the Trustees may be adjourned from time to time whether a quorum be present or not.

**9.** The Trustees may hold extraordinary meetings, which may be called by either -

- (a) the Convenor;
- (b) the Vice-Convenor;
- (c) any two Trustees; or
- (d) the harbour master.

**10.** All meetings to be held under the authority of this Order shall be called or announced by an intimation of an agenda specifying the business to be transacted at the meeting, and the day, hour and place when and where the same are to be held, which shall be delivered to, left at the usual place of abode or place of business of, or posted by ordinary first-class post to, each Trustee not less than 48 hours before such meeting.

*Committees*

**11.** The Trustees may from time to time appoint committees for such purposes as, in their opinion, would be better regulated and managed by means of such committees and the Trustees shall fix the quorum of such committees and may continue, alter, or discontinue such committees.

*Proceedings of meetings and committees of the Trustees*

**12.** The acts and proceedings of the Trustees, or any committee of the Trustees, shall not be invalidated by any vacancy in their number or by any defect in the appointment, or the qualification for appointment, of any person as a Trustee, or as Convenor or Vice-Convenor, of the Trustees or committee.

**13.** - (1) Every question at a meeting of the Trustees or of a committee of the Trustees shall be decided by a majority vote of the members present and voting.

(2) If at any meeting of the Trustees or of a committee of the Trustees there is an equality of votes on any question the Convenor of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.

*General*

**14.** Subject to the provisions of this Schedule, the procedure and business of the Trustees and of any committee of the Trustees shall be regulated in such manner as the Trustees from time to time determine.

SCHEDULE 3

Article 15

REPEALS

<i>Chapter</i>	<i>Short Title</i>	<i>Extent of re</i>
(1)	(2)	(3)
1911 c. clxxxvi.	Pier and Harbour Order Confirmation (No.4) Act 1911	Sections 10
1984 c. iii.	Ullapool Harbour Order Confirmation Act 1984	Section 4 and Schedule.

---

**EXPLANATORY NOTE**

*(This note is not part of the Order)*

This Order reconstitutes the Ullapool Harbour Trustees as

from 1st December 2005. It provides for the Trustees to consist of a body of 8 Trustees with experience in relevant matters. Four Trustees will be elected by the Lochbroom voters and three Trustees will be appointed. The remaining Trustee will be the harbour master. The Order includes other provisions with regard to the Trustees Constitution and repeals or revokes certain statutory provisions.

---

*Notes:*

[1] 1964 c. 40; section 14 was amended by the Transport Act 1981 (c. 56), section 18 and Schedule 6, paragraphs 2 to 4 and 14, and by the Transport and Works Act 1992 (c. 42), section 63(1) and Schedule 3, paragraph 1.[back](#)

[2] The functions of the Secretary of State were transferred to the Scottish Ministers by virtue of section 53 of the Scotland Act 1998 (c. 46).[back](#)

---

ISBN 0 11 069480 5

